
 
 

 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

County Council 
 

13 September 2022 
 
 
 

 

Agenda 
 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/


 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 

Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 

The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 

 those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 
 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 

partners. 
(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 

The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 

 
For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or email 
democracy@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the document.  

 

 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 

http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/
mailto:democracy@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Fax: 01865 247805  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 

 
 
 
To: Members of the County COUNCIL 

 

Notice of a Meeting of the County Council 
 

Tuesday, 13 September 2022 at 10.30 am 
 

Council Chamber - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 
 

If you wish to view proceedings, please click on this Live Stream Link 
Please note, that will not allow you to participate in the meeting. 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Stephen Chandler   
Interim Chief Executive September 2022 
  

Committee Officer: E-Mail: committees.democraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

In order to comply with the Data Protection Act 2018, notice is given that Items 3, 7 and 
12 will be recorded.  The purpose of recording proceedings is to provide an aide-memoire 
to assist the clerk of the meeting in the drafting of minutes. 

Members are asked to sign the attendance book which will be available in the 

corridor outside the Council Chamber.  A list of members present at the meeting 
will be compiled from this book. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
https://oxon.cc/FC13092022


- 2 - 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

 

1. Minutes (Pages 1 - 12) 

 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2022 (CC1) and to receive 

information arising from them. 

 

2. Apologies for Absence  

 

3. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note  

 

 Members are reminded that they must declare their interests orally at the meeting and 

specify (a) the nature of the interest and (b) which items on the agenda are the relevant 
items. This applies also to items where members have interests by virtue of their 
membership of a district council in Oxfordshire. 

 

4. Official Communications  

 

5. Appointments  

 

 To make any changes to the membership of the Cabinet, scrutiny and other committees 
on the nomination of political groups. 

 

6. Petitions and Public Address  

 

 Members of the public who wish to speak at this meeting can attend the meeting in 

person or ‘virtually’ through an online connection. 
 
Requests to speak must be submitted by no later than 9am four working days before 

the meeting i.e. 9 am on Wednesday 7 September 2022.  Requests to speak should be 
sent to committees.democraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk . 
 

If you are speaking ‘virtually’, you may submit a written statement of your presentation 
to ensure that if the technology fails, then your views can still be taken into account. A 

written copy of your statement can be provided no later than 9 am 2 working days 
before the meeting. Written submissions should be no longer than 1 A4 sheet.  
 

7. Questions with Notice from Members of the Public  

 

8. Questions with Notice from Members of the Council  

 

9. Report of the Cabinet (Pages 13 - 16) 

 

 Report of the Cabinet meeting of 19 July 2022. 

mailto:committees.democraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk


- 3 - 
 

 

 

10. Local Government Boundary Review for Oxfordshire (Pages 17 - 42) 

 

 Report by Director of Law and Governance 

 
Council is RECOMMENDED to establish a cross-party group with membership 
drawn from each political group following liaison with the Political Group 

Leaders.  This will be supported by a technical officer group set up by the 
Director of Law and Governance. 

 
Please note that representatives from the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England will make a presentation to members following the meeting. 

 

11. Amendments to the Council's Constitution and its Presentation (including 
recommendations from the Constitution Working Group) (Pages 43 - 314) 

 

 Report by Director of Law and Governance 
 

The Cross Party Constitution Working Group (“the CWG”) held nine meetings 
between November 2021 and July 2022.  It was tasked with considering ways of 
amending the Constitution and then making recommendations. The recommendations 

contained in this report arise from its work and were approved by the Audit and 
Governance Committee at its meeting on 20 July 2022. 

 
Council is RECOMMENDED to approve: 
a) The changes to the presentation of the Constitution on the Council’s 

website referred to in paragraphs 4 to 8 of the report 
b) The video and diagram referred to in paragraphs 9 to 11 of the report for 

inclusion on the Council’s website 

c) The proposals for the incorporation of all of the current Articles into the 
main body of the Constitution referred to in paragraphs 12 to 14 of the 

report 
d) The proposals for amendment to the Protocol on Members’ Rights and 

Responsibilities, the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations, the Council 

Procedure Rules and the Contract Procedure Rules in the Constitution 
referred to in paragraphs 15 to 23 of the report 

e) The proposed new Part 2 of the Constitution relating to the Fire and 
Rescue Service referred to in paragraphs 26 to 28 of the report; and  

f) A delegation to the Director of Law and Governance to make textual 
amendments to the Constitution to address any inconsistencies or correct 
any cross-referencing errors arising from or as a consequence of the 

amendments, along with updating job and group titles if those referred to 
in the Constitution are obsolete (insofar as the Director of Law and 

Governance does not already have such a delegation) 
 
Council is also recommended: 

g) To note that the Code of Conduct it adopted on 5 April 2022 and the 
Current Scheme of Allowances referred to in paragraphs 24 to 25 below 
will be incorporated into the Constitution. 

 



- 4 - 
 

 

12. Proposed changes to the Constitution of the Pension Fund Committee (Pages 

315 - 322) 
 

 Report by Director of Law & Governance 
 
Council is RECOMMENDED to endorse recommendations a) to d) agreed by the 

Pension Fund Committee, and endorsed by the Audit & Governance Committee, 
as set out below. 

 
a) That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

b) That approval be given to amend the Governance Policy to mandate all 
Members of the Committee to complete training in line with the Training 

Policy as set out in paragraph 18 of the report. 
 
c) That approval be given to only named substitutes of the Committee being 

allowed where they have completed training in line with the Training 
Policy. 

 
d) That Council mandate the Director of Law & Governance to make the 

appropriate changes to the Terms of Reference and Constitution of the 

Pension Fund Committee to formalise the new governance arrangements 
and 

 
Council is also RECOMMENDED to endorse the following agreed by the Audit 
and Governance Committee: 

 
e) That when the Independent Remuneration Panel is next due to formally 

meet, a full review be undertaken of Members’ responsibilities and 
commitments relating to their roles and the appropriateness of whether an 
additional allowance should be provided be considered in relation to 

specific roles. 

 

 MOTIONS WITH NOTICE FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 
WOULD MEMBERS PLEASE NOTE THAT ANY AMENDMENTS TO MOTIONS WITH 

NOTICE MUST BE PRESENTED TO THE PROPER OFFICER IN WRITING BY 
9.00 AM ON THE MONDAY BEFORE THE MEETING 
 

13. Motion by Councillor Liz Brighouse  

 

 Councils across England have seen their deficits in Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities rise. It currently stands at a record £2.4b.  Oxfordshire’s deficit is roughly 

£20m and rising. Like other authorities, Oxfordshire will face catastrophic financial 
decisions when in 2023 the Government removes the ability of Local Authorities to keep 
this debt within a separate reserve budget. Unless removed by government, 

Oxfordshire will have to find ways to fund the deficit within its budget for 2023/24. 
 

The deficits have built up after many years of rising demand for services and Central 
Government now needs to address the issue.  



- 5 - 
 

 

 
This Council asks the Leader to write to the Secretary of State for Education and the 
Chancellor asking that these debts be written off so that the reforms necessary in the 

Green Paper and in Oxfordshire’s own SEND Strategy, which will reduce costs, can be 
delivered without the strain of historic deficits.  

 

14. Motion by Councillor Roz Smith  

 

 This Council notes that:  

  
This Government has consistently failed to address the cost of living crisis.  
 

Oxfordshire households face spiralling costs with fuel and energy costs, especially 
affecting front line workers, logistics, farming and food production.  

  
Energy & fuel rises impact on all this council's services and there is concern about 
budgeted schemes due to inflation, and availability of personnel and resources.  

  
1 in 3 households reported their cost of living had risen, citing affordability of food and 

medicines as a major concern. Many households face a decision between “heat or eat” 
 

This Council therefore declares a ‘Cost of Living Emergency’ and calls on the 

Government to: 
 

Subsidise buses and trains, to ensure that people can travel for essential education and 
work.  
  

Urgently review the energy cap to provide much greater protection to consumers, 
including a cap for off grid homes. 

 
Immediately change taxation on fuel to transfer the risk of price changes to the 
Government pegged at long-term average prices. 

   
Immediately reduce VAT to 17.5% 

 
Restore the £20 Universal Credit supplement, previously cancelled by the Government. 
  

Recognise Oxfordshire will need urgent additional funds to support homelessness, 
school transport, social care services, waste disposal, and a plethora of other council 

functions and programme deliveries affected by the increase in prices and inflation. 
 
Council recommends to the Cabinet that this Council holds an urgent Cost-of-Living 

Summit to work towards a holistic and adaptive response to the emergency in 
Oxfordshire.  

 

15. Motion by Councillor Eddie Reeves  

 

 This Council notes that the Councillors’ Priority Fund policy is currently set to end on 31 
March 2023 at the end of the financial year with the final tranche of members’ funding 

needing to be committed on or before 31 January 2023. 



- 6 - 
 

 

 
This Council notes the successes of the Councillors’ Priority Fund in ensuring that 
elected members can have a direct impact on their communities by facilitating 

community-action schemes, school safety projects, construction of pedestrian crossings 
and other meaningful measures. 

  
Notwithstanding budgetary pressures and without prejudice to the Council’s budget 
consultation exercise, this Council asks that Cabinet gives full consideration to 

maintaining the Councillors’ Priority Fund at its current level for the forthcoming 
financial year. 

 

16. Motion by Councillor Yvonne Constance  

 

 This Council notes that the Leader has acknowledged the challenging market 

conditions faced by Oxfordshire's excellent meat and dairy farmers 
 
This Council further notes that local authorities have an important duty to engage 

positively and proportionately in public discourse.  
 

Given the privileged position in which this Council finds itself and the potentially 
damaging effects of its motion dated 14 December 2021, this Council resolves to offer 
locally produced menus at Council-catered events, including meat, dairy, and vegan 

options, or to make alternative provisions for members, staff, and attendees to facilitate 
personal choice.  

 

17. Motion by Councillor Nigel Simpson  

 

 Oxfordshire County Council has acknowledged the Climate Change Emergency. 
 

A major contributor to excessive CO2 output are unnecessary car journeys. The 
proposal by Network Rail to shut the vital link between Yarnton and Kidlington by 

closing the rail crossing at Sandy Lane will result in a significant increase in carbon 
emissions. 

 

Permanent closure would see drivers forced to use Frieze Way or Langford Lane 
resulting in an average extra distance travelled of nearly two miles per journey. 

 
Based on current trends this is estimated to result in an extra 4750 miles travelled on 
weekdays and an additional 3800 at weekends, resulting in 1.5 million unnecessary 

miles per year. 
 

The cost of such surplus miles in money is hundreds of thousands of pounds to 
residents and businesses who rely on their cars; and extra pollution in the form of many 
tonnes of carbon emissions, contrary to the Council’s environmental objectives. 

 
This would go directly against the Council’s ambition to reduce CO2 output generated 

by transport and very significantly degrade the network of contacts that currently 
underpins the ancient and vital community nexus around the parishes of Yarnton, 
Begbroke, Kidlington and Gosford and Water Eaton. 

 



- 7 - 
 

 

This Council calls upon the Leader to urgently write to Network Rail to oppose the 
proposed closure and further to instruct her officers and relevant Cabinet colleague(s) 
to lobby for this vital link to be maintained with improvements, where possible, 

especially for cyclists and pedestrians.  
 

18. Motion by Councillor Ian Middleton  

 

 The Home Office announcement of its intention to reopen Campsfield House 
Immigration Detention Centre in Kidlington ignores local and national feeling on the 

treatment of refugees. It’s also a cruel, ineffective, and costly backwards step for this 
government, for our country and for the people of Kidlington, Yarnton and Begbroke. 
 

In the years before its closure in 2018, Campsfield House was used to detain nearly 
30,000 migrants. During that time there were weekly demonstrations, protests, hunger 

strikes, two suicides, escapes and scores of legal challenges. It was finally closed 
following a damning inquiry into conditions. 
 

The UK is ranked 20th in terms of asylum applications processed, and 19th for 
applications accepted. Two thirds of UK asylum seekers’ claims are turned down, the 

highest refusal rate in Europe, with 41% of those decisions overturned on appeal.   
 
Instead of criminalising people fleeing war, oppression and persecution, who have 

already suffered at the hands of people traffickers, the government should focus on 
achieving its own targets to deal with asylum claims promptly and fairly. 

 
This Council therefore condemns the re-opening of Campsfield House and asks the 
Leader to write to the Home Secretary calling for: 

 
1. The cancellation of the reopening of Campsfield House as a detention centre. 

 
2. The creation of safe havens and more legal routes to apply for asylum in the UK. 

 

3. The prioritisation of prompt and fair processing of asylum claims whilst 
introducing appropriate safeguards to allow asylum seekers to live and work in 

our communities in the meantime 
 

 

19. Motion by Councillor Judy Roberts  

 

 The Council has recently voted unanimously to pass the new Local Transport and 
Connectivity Plan. The headline goal of this policy is to reduce car journeys by 1 in 4 

across Oxfordshire by 2030. 
 
The achieving of this goal will require many residents across the county to change their 

everyday travel habits and behaviours. 
 

As a Council and as councillors we lead by example. Having a free car park in front of 
County Hall in central Oxford is not the way to lead by example and an embarrassing 
relic that lies in stark contradiction to our published goals, especially when we are 

asking others to reduce their car use, and when there are plentiful other ways to travel 



- 8 - 
 

 

to County Hall including Park & Ride, bus, train, cycling and walking. Members of all 
parties have recently voiced their support for our excellent Park and Ride as well as the 
many other direct services to County Hall. 

 
Therefore, the Council recommends that the Cabinet give consideration to closing the 

car park at the front of County Hall by Spring 2023 and repurpose the space with public 
realm improvements, such as green infrastructure, trees and benches. A full disability 
assessment should be carried out and Disabled parking bays would need to be retained 

for those with blue badges for access to County Hall, preferably between County Hall 
and the Castle complex. 

 

20. Motion by Councillor Neil Fawcett  

 

 First Past the Post (FPTP) originated when voting was restricted to property-owning 

men. 
 
In Europe, only the UK and authoritarian Belarus still use archaic single-round FPTP for 

general elections. 
 

Meanwhile, internationally, Proportional Representation (PR) is used to elect 
parliaments in more than 80 countries. Those countries tend to be more equal, freer 
and greener. 

 
PR ensures all votes count, have more equal value, and those seats won more closely 

match votes cast. Under PR, MPs and Parliaments better reflect the age, gender and 
protected characteristics of local communities and the nation. 
 

Authorities and governments that better reflect their communities lead to improved 
decision-making, wider participation and increased levels of ownership of decisions 

taken. 
 
PR would also end minority rule. In 2019, 43.6% of the vote produced a government 

with 56.2% of the seats and 100% of the power. PR also prevents ‘wrong winner’ 
elections such as occurred in 1951 and February 1974. 

 
PR is already used to elect the parliaments and assemblies of Scotland, Wales and 
Northern Ireland. So why not Westminster? 

 
Council therefore resolves to write to H.M. Government calling for a change in our 

outdated electoral laws to enable Proportional Representation to be used for general 
elections and for elections to councils in England and to retain for PCC elections. 
 

21. Motion by Councillor Brad Baines  

 

 Council is concerned that the government’s Adult Social Care charging reforms are 
potentially hugely underfunded which will put implementation at risk as well as adding 

to existing pressures. 
 
The UK wide health and social care levy will raise £36 billion over the next three years 

but only £5.4 billion is ring-fenced for social care reforms in England. 



- 9 - 
 

 

  
The implication of underfunding these reforms is to put even greater pressure on 
unpaid carers – including young carers – to increase waiting times for assessments and 

further delays in the provision of care.  
 

Oxfordshire is one of six ‘trailblazing’ Councils in England who are implementing the 
reforms earlier than the rest of the country and this Council needs assurances from 
government that when the outcomes from the ‘trailblazing’ Councils are known that 

government funds the reforms in line with these costs. 
 

Consequently, this Council calls on the Leader to write to the Secretaries of State for 
Health and Social Care and Levelling Up and Communities to request assurances of 
future funding in line with the aforementioned additional cost burden. 
 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OXFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of the meeting held on Tuesday, 12 July 2022 commencing at 10.30 am 

and finishing at 3.25pm 

 
Present: 

 
Councillor Susanna Pressel – in the Chair 
 

Councillors: 
 

John Howson 
Juliette Ash 
Brad Baines 

Hannah Banfield 
David Bartholomew 

Robin Bennett 
Felix Bloomfield 
Liz Brighouse OBE 

Kevin Bulmer 
Nigel Champken-Woods 

Mark Cherry 
Andrew Coles 
Yvonne Constance OBE 

Ian Corkin 
Imade Edosomwan 
Duncan Enright 

Mohamed Fadlalla 
Arash Fatemian 

Neil Fawcett 
 

Ted Fenton 
Donna Ford 
Andrew Gant 

Stefan Gawrysiak 
Andy Graham 

Kate Gregory 
Jane Hanna OBE 
Jenny Hannaby 

Charlie Hicks 
Tony Ilott 

Bob Johnston 
Liz Leffman 
Dan Levy 

Dr Nathan Ley 
Mark Lygo 
Kieron Mallon 

Ian Middleton 
Freddie van Mierlo 

Calum Miller 
 

Jane Murphy 
Michael O'Connor 
Michele Paule 

Glynis Phillips 
Sally Povolotsky 

Eddie Reeves 
G.A. Reynolds 
David Rouane 

Geoff Saul 
Les Sibley 

Nigel Simpson 
Roz Smith 
Ian Snowdon 

Dr Pete Sudbury 
Bethia Thomas 
Michael Waine 

Liam Walker 
Richard Webber 

 

 

The Council considered the matters, reports and recommendations contained or 
referred to in the agenda for the meeting and decided as set out below.  Except 

insofar as otherwise specified, the reasons for the decisions are contained in the 
agenda and reports, copies of which are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 

 
 

44/22 MINUTES  
(Agenda Item 1) 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 May 2022 were amended as follows:- 

 
34/22 Election of Chair for the 2022/23 Council Year 

 

The addition of “(Councillor Susanna Pressel in the Chair)” following this 
minute 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



CC1 
 

Replacement of references to Chairman and Vice-Chairman with Chair and 
Vice-Chair 

 
37/22 Minutes 

 
The Director of Law and Governance to agree a revised form of words 
regarding the statements by Councillors Leffman and Corkin during the 

debate on the severance of the S.113 agreement with Cherwell District 
Council at the meeting of Council on 8 February 2022. 

 
38/22 Report of the Cabinet 
 

Paragraph 1 to state 
 

“In relation to a question from Cllr Bob Johnston, Cllr Pete Sudbury said that 
the Tree Policy did include climate resilience and UK grown and quarantined 
trees which were also found in Southern Europe. Trees needed to provide 

food, timber or natural habitats” 
 

 
and approved as a correct record 
 

 

45/22 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
(Agenda Item 2) 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bearder, Field-
Johnson, Haywood, Leverton, Roberts and Rooke 

 
 

46/22 OFFICIAL COMMUNICATIONS  
(Agenda Item 4) 

 
Council received the following communications:- 

 
1 A statement by the Chair on the devoted service by Her 

Majesty the Queen during her reign spanning 70 years and the 

celebrations in Oxfordshire for her Platinum Jubilee 
 

2 A statement by the Chair on her various engagements in many 
divisions within the County 

 

The Council then paid tribute to the late Councillor David Wilmshurst and 
observed a minute’s silence in his memory 

 
 

47/22 APPOINTMENTS  
(Agenda Item 5) 

 
Council noted the following appointments:- 
 

Page 2



CC1 
 

Pension Fund Committee 
 

Councillor Field-Johnson to replace Councillor Reeves  
 
Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
Councillor Fatemian to replace Councillor Murphy  

 
Councillor Fenton to replace Councillor Constance  

 

48/22 PETITIONS AND PUBLIC ADDRESS  
(Agenda Item 6) 

 
Petition 

 

Fazal Hussain presented a petition on behalf of LTN Smart Changes Group, 
requesting the removal of Low Traffic Neighbourhood Schemes in Cowley 
and East Oxford 

 
Public Address 

 

Emily Daly, a parish councillor in Lower Heyford, addressed the Council on 
the Local Transport and Connectivity Plan.  Ms Daly referred to the omission 

in the plan of a weight limit as part of the Heyford Park development. Ms 
Daly said the Council’s policy to replace point weight limits with area based 
limits was not included in the plan.  Ms Daly expressed concern about the 

lack of consultation on the change in policy, that it had appeared to be 
predetermined and did not take into account the views of local parish 

councils who were best placed to identify and make representations on the 
local traffic concerns in their neighbourhoods. 
 

The Monitoring Officer clarified that she was not aware of any policy 
decisions of this Council being predetermined.  

 
Mark Goldring addressed the Council on the work of the Asylum Welcome 
charity, working with asylum seekers and refugees across the county.  Mr 

Goldring referred, in particular, to the efforts of the Council working with local 
organisations to support refugees from Afghanistan and Ukraine. Mr Goldring 

asked that the Council establish a permanent refugee support and co-
ordination function 
 

49/22 QUESTIONS WITH NOTICE FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  
(Agenda Item 8) 

 

27 Questions with Notice were asked. Details of the questions and answers 
and supplementary questions and answers will be set out in the Annex to the 
minutes. 

 
In relation to question 1, (Question from Cllr Kieron Mallon to Cllr Andrew 

Gant), Cllr Gant undertook to provide a written response on whether Low 

Page 3



CC1 
 

Traffic Neighbourhoods were proposed in areas covered by Local Cycling 
and Walking Infrastructure Plans  

 
In relation to question 5, (Question from Cllr Nathan Ley to Cllr Andrew Gant) 

Cllr Gant undertook to provide a written response on S106 developer 
contributions to the new bus service 
 

50/22 REPORT OF THE CABINET  
(Agenda Item 9) 

 

Council received the report of the Cabinet 
 
In relation to a question from Cllr John Howson, Cllr Liz Brighouse said that it 

was important to improve the Council’s SEND system through increased 
engagement  from the health sector. 

 
In relation to a question from Cllr Ian Corkin, Cllr Liz Brighouse undertook to 
provide a written response on the number of children from Ukraine waiting 

for school places and the wating times for those places 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr Brad Baines, Cllr Mark Lygo explained that 
the Council was working with partners on the strategy for the next steps of 
the food strategy in order to achieve the desired outcomes 

 
In relation to a question from Cllr Ian Middleton, Cllr Mark Lygo said that 
initiatives had been taken to encourage more involvement by schools in the 

development of the Food Strategy 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr Robin Bennett, Cllr Mark Lygo explained 
ways in which the district councils and other partners would be involved in 
development of the Food Strategy 

 
In relation to a question from Cllr Ian Corkin, Cllr Pete Sudbury undertook to 

provide a written response to concerns regarding the planning application to 
restore a destroyed landfill site at Ardley 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr David Bartholomew, Cllr Calum Miller 
explained the measures being taken to address the deficit to the High Needs 

Dedicated Schools Grant fund and that local authorities were working 
together to lobby central government for more financial support for a 
measure which he considered had been inadequately funded since it had 

been introduced. 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr Charlie Hicks, Cllr Duncan Enright 
undertook to speak to officers about the review of LTCP 4 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr Robin Bennett. Cllr Pete Sudbury explained 
the measures being taken to reduce Scope 3 carbon emissions and a report 

would be submitted to the Cabinet in the autumn 
 

Page 4



CC1 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr Roz Smith, Cllr Jenny Hannaby said that 
she intended to visit all 44 of the county’s libraries and would be looking at 

the measures needed to improve buildings and services where required 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr Robin Bennett, Cllr Calum Miller said that 
the new administration had put in place new capital expenditure controls and 
steps to deal with what he considered to be inadequately funded schemes 

inherited from the previous administration. 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr David Bartholomew, Cllr Calum Miller said 
that it had been disappointing that a proportion of capital funds allocated in 
the previous financial year had been unspent but that they had been 

earmarked in the current year and that the administration would ensure 
continued close scrutiny of the Council’s capital expenditure 

 
In relation to a question from Cllr David Bartholomew, Cllr Calum Miller 
undertook to provide a written response on the contradiction between 

statements in the Treasury Management annual report and the Capital 
Programme report regarding new borrowing in 2021/22 

 
In relation to a question from Cllr Brad Baines, Cllr Andrew Gant said that the 
Active Travel Strategy, which formed part of the evidence base to the LTCP, 

had addressed the issue of good quality, segregated active travel 
infrastructure. 

 
In relation to a question from Cllr Yvonne Constance, Cllr Andrew Gant said 
that he would speak to officers on the plans for “Vision Zero” on the A420 

road 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr Andrew Coles, Cllr Andrew Gant explained 
the current status of the Woodstock Road scheme and that the primary aims 
were to reduce congestion and car use and encourage use of buses as part 

of the Active Travel Scheme 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr George Reynolds, Cllr Andrew Gant said 
that he would be ensuring that the provision of bus services from rural areas 
of the County into Oxford continued to be prioritised. 

 
In relation to a question from Cllr Robin Bennett, Cllr Duncan Enright said 

that he would ensure that input from parish Councils and Didcot Town 
Council was taken into account in the development of the Didcot area 
strategy 

 
In relation to a question from Cllr Yvonne Constance, Cllr Duncan Enright 

said that the governance of the HIF2 scheme had been reviewed, a cabinet 
advisory group had been established, monitoring of environmental 
performance had been introduced, and that he was confident that the 

scheme would provide considerable improvements to the infrastructure of the 
county. 

 

Page 5



CC1 
 

In relation to a question from Cllr John Howson, Cllr Duncan Enright said that 
he would ensure that neighbourhood forums and residents’ groups were 

consulted on the HIF2 scheme. 
 

 
 

51/22 JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 

ANNUAL REPORT  
(Agenda Item 10) 

 
Council had before it the annual report of the Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Regulation 28(1) of the Local 

Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 the Council had a duty to “review and scrutinise any matter 
relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health services in its 

area”. 
 

As part of this overarching duty, it also had a duty, enshrined in the Council’s 
Constitution, to report on its activity over the preceding year in the form of an 
annual report.  

 
Cllr Jane Hanna presented the report and answered a number of members’ 

questions 
 
Following debate it was:- 

 
RESOLVED (on a motion from Cllr Jane Hanna, seconded by Cllr Nathan 

Ley and carried nem con) to endorse the Joint Committee’s annual report 
 
  

 

52/22 GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS RELATING TO TERMINATION 

OF THE OXFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL - CHERWELL 

DISTRICT COUNCIL S.113 AGREEMENT.  
(Agenda Item 12) 

 

Council had before it a report recommending the disbandment of the Joint 
Shared Services and Personnel Committee following the decision to 

terminate the current s.113 partnership between Oxfordshire County Council 
and Cherwell District Council  
 

RESOLVED (on a motion from Councillor Liz Brighouse and seconded by 

Cllr Ian Corkin and agreed nem con) to: 

 
a) Approve that the Joint Shared Services and Personnel 

Committee (JSSP) should be disbanded with effect from 31 

August 2022 
 

Page 6



CC1 
 

b) Delegate to the Chief Executive powers to, operate, 
terminate, extend, or vary the new arrangements with 

Cherwell District Council 
 

c) Delegate to the Director of Law and Governance to make 
any resultant changes to the Council’s Constitution to reflect 
the recommendations in this report   

 
 

53/22 EXEMPT ITEM  
(Agenda Item 13) 

 
RESOLVED to exclude the public for the duration of the following item  since 

it is likely that if they were present during this item there would be disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Schedule 12A 

to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and specified below in 
relation to those items and since it is considered that, in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 

outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

54/22 PROPOSALS FOR ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE RESULTING IN 

PROPOSED REDUNDANCIES  
(Agenda Item 14) 
 

The information contained in the report was exempt in that it fell within the 

following prescribed categories:  
 

1. Information relating to a particular individual. 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information). 
 

It is considered that in this case the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information, in that 
such disclosure would distort the proper process of free negotiations 

between the authority with another party for the purposes described and 
would prejudice the position of the authority in those negotiations and other 

negotiations of a similar nature in future 

 
Council had before it a report recommending approval of special severance 

payments arising from a review of the Council’s staffing structures.  In view 
of statutory guidance issued in May 2022, these payments required the 

approval of the full Council. 
 
Councillor Liz Leffman moved and Councillor Liz Brighouse seconded that 

the recommendations set out in the report be adopted. 
 

Following debate, the Motion was put to the vote and was carried by 36 
votes to 0 with 18 abstentions 
 

Page 7



CC1 
 

RESOLVED, (by 36 votes to 0, with 18 abstentions), to approve the 

payments set out in the report, subject to granting reasonable discretion as 

identified and approved by the Leader of the Council and Interim Chief 
Executive to make any changes as required. 

 
 

55/22 LOCAL TRANSPORT AND CONNECTIVITY PLAN  
(Agenda Item 11) 

 
Council had before it a report updating members on the Local Transport and 

Connectivity Plan (LTCP). Local Transport Plans were statutory documents, 
required under the Transport Act 2008.   The new Oxfordshire document had 
been titled the Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP), to better 

reflect the strategy both for digital infrastructure and for better connectivity 
across the whole county. 

 
The report summarised the results of the LTCP consultation and outlined the 
key changes to the final LTCP. It also included information about changes to 

the supporting strategies for Freight and Logistics, Innovation Framework 
and Active Travel. It was proposed that the content of the documents found 

in annexes 2-5 were all adopted by the council 
 
Councillor Duncan Enright moved and Councillor Andrew Gant seconded 

that the recommendations set out in the report be adopted. 
 
Following debate it was:-  

 
RESOLVED (nem con) to:- 

 
a) Adopt the content of the Local Transport and Connectivity Plan 

document, and the supporting strategies, as council policy.  

 
b) Acknowledge the Cabinet resolution on 21 June 2022 to 

delegate the decision on the final Local Transport and 
Connectivity Plan document, including graphical format, to the 
Corporate Director for Environment and Place in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Travel and Development Strategy.  
 

56/22 MOTION BY COUNCILLOR LIAM WALKER  
(Agenda Item 15) 

 
Councillor Liam Walker moved and Councillor Eddie Reeves seconded the 

following Motion:- 
 

“This council recognises the need to improve public transport in Oxfordshire 
to reduce emissions, tackle congestion and make sure our bus services are 
more sustainable.  

 
Park and Ride sites are important transport hubs in Oxfordshire helping to 

reduce the need to drive into Oxford city. 

Page 8



CC1 
 

 
To help meet the commitments as stated above this council calls on both the 

Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Highways Management 
to: 

 

  Establish a cross-party task force to explore the viability of making parking 

at our P&R sites free.  
 

 Write to the Leader of Oxford City Council asking for the city council to join 

this new task force 
 

.  Work with public transport providers in Oxfordshire to establish a Park & 

Ride improvement plan” 

 
Councillor Duncan Enright moved and Councillor Andrew Gant seconded the 

following amendment as shown in bold italics and strikethrough:- 
 
This council recognises the need to improve public transport in Oxfordshire 

to reduce emissions, tackle congestion and make sure our bus services are 
more sustainable. 

  
Park and Ride sites are important transport hubs in Oxfordshire helping to 
reduce the need to drive into Oxford city. 

  
To help meet the commitments as stated above this council calls on both the 

Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Highways Management 
to: 
 

 Establish a cross-party task force to explore the viability of making 

parking at our P&R sites free. 
 Write to the Leader of Oxford City Council asking for the city council to 

join this new task force . 

 Work with public transport providers in Oxfordshire to establish a Park 
& Ride improvement plan  

 

 Continue working within the Enhanced Bus Partnership (EBP) to 
make Park & Ride (P&R) more attractive than driving into the city 
centre 

 

 Work with the public transport providers, City and District 
Councils through EHP to plan the future of P&R, including 
discussing freight consolidation, shared transport, bike and 

scooter hire, tourist coaches, and high frequency services 
beyond the city. 

 
Following debate, the amendment by Councillor Duncan Enright was put to 
the vote and carried by 35 votes to 21 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 14.1.(vii), Councillor Roz Smith 

moved and Councillor Pete Sudbury seconded that the question now be put. 

Page 9



CC1 
 

 
The substantive motion as amended was then put to the vote and was 

carried by 34 votes to 7 with 1 abstention. 
 
RESOLVED (by 34 votes to 7 with 1 abstention):- 

 
This council recognises the need to improve public transport in Oxfordshire 

to reduce emissions, tackle congestion and make sure our bus services are 
more sustainable. 

  
Park and Ride sites are important transport hubs in Oxfordshire helping to 
reduce the need to drive into Oxford city. 

  
To help meet the commitments as stated above this council calls on both the 

Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Highways Management 
to: 
 
 

 Continue working within the Enhanced Bus Partnership to make Park 

& Ride (P&R) more attractive than driving into the city centre 
 

 Work with the public transport providers, City and District Councils 
through the Enhanced Bus Partnership to plan the future of P&R, 

including discussing freight consolidation, shared transport, bike and 
scooter hire, tourist coaches, and high frequency services beyond the 
city. 

 
 

57/22 MOTION BY COUNCILLOR SALLY POVOLOTSKY  
(Agenda Item 16) 

 
The time being 3.25 pm, this Motion was considered dropped in accordance 

with Council Procedure Rule 13.5.8 
 

58/22 MOTION BY COUNCILLOR YVONNE CONSTANCE  
(Agenda Item 17) 

 
The time being 3.25 pm, this Motion was considered dropped in accordance 

with Council Procedure Rule 13.5.8 
 

59/22 MOTION BY COUNCILLOR EDDIE REEVES  
(Agenda Item 18) 

 
The time being 3.25 pm, this Motion was considered dropped in accordance 
with Council Procedure Rule 13.5.8 

 

60/22 MOTION BY COUNCILLOR NIGEL SIMPSON  
(Agenda Item 19) 
 

The time being 3.25 pm, this Motion was considered dropped in accordance 
with Council Procedure Rule 13.5.8 

Page 10



CC1 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
…………………………………………………..  in the Chair 

 
Date of signing ………………………………………………. 

 

 
 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Divisions- N/A 
 

COUNTY COUNCIL – 13 September 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CABINET 
 

Cabinet Member: Leader 
 
1. Oxfordshire-Cherwell Partnership Transition Plan 

(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 
 

In February 2022, Oxfordshire County Council and Cherwell District Council 
agreed to give notice to terminate the s.113 partnership between the two 

Councils. Cabinet considered and agreed a report setting out the decisions 
made on each service, the transition arrangements away from the current 
partnership and the financial implications of the termination. 

 
 

Cabinet Member: Corporate Services 
 

2. Digital Inclusion Strategy 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 
 

Cabinet was asked to approve the Oxfordshire Digital Inclusion Strategy, 
designed to ensure that the benefits of the digital technologies were available 
to all, and agree the actions that the County Council will undertake. 

  
Cabinet agreed the recommendations including the recommendation from the 

People Overview & Scrutiny Committee to submit an annual update of the 
process to scrutiny and Cabinet. 
 

3. Oxford ‘Street Voice ‘Citizen’s Jury 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 

 
Cabinet received an update on the independent research project undertaken 
by the consortium of researchers from Oxford University to consider a broad 

range of transport issues and agreed to ask Overview and Scrutiny to consider 
a dedicated event to consider the findings in committee. 

 
 

Cabinet Member: Finance 
 

4. Business Management & Monitoring Report – May 2022 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 
 

Cabinet considered a report summarising the performance and finance position 
for the Council with recommendations on virements, Review of Charges and 
Business Rate funding.  It was the first report under the new Outcomes 

Framework of the Fair Deal Alliance.  Cabinet agreed the recommendations. 
 

5. Capital Programme Update & Monitoring Report – May 2022 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) Page 13

Agenda Item 9



CC9 

 
 
Cabinet considered a report recommending reprofiling of major infrastructure 

projects, allocations of grant funding and a full review of the Capital Programme 
in light of pressures and increasing inflation costs. 

 
Cabinet approved the recommendations which also included changes to 
Capital Programme governance to strengthen internal structures and 

procedures. 
 

 

Cabinet Member: Highway Management 
 

6. Cowley LTN Experimental TRO 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 

 
The Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders (ETRO) covering the Cowley 

schemes were due to come to an end in September.  Cabinet was asked to 
choose one of two options, these being to: either incorporate the ETRO into a 
TRO; or to remove the schemes altogether.  

 
The meeting received a petition against the LTN and heard around 30 speakers 

for and against.  Cabinet approved the incorporation into a TRO and agreed to 
undertake further community and stakeholder engagement in order to further 
refine and improve the scheme, with any changes to be implemented by Spring 

2023. 
 

 

Cabinet Member: Public Health & Equality 
 

7. Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Action Plan 2022-23 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 

 
Cabinet considered a report setting out how the Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion (EDI) action plan for 2022-23 had been developed to support the 

Council’s EDI framework known as ‘Including Everyone’.  There was a 
particular effort this year to be more specific in timelines and benchmarks.  

Cabinet approved the action plan. 
 

8. Provision of Services for Adults and children affected by 
Domestic Abuse 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 

 
Cabinet received a report highlighting the intention to commission Oxfordshire 

Domestic Abuse services in time for a contract start date of April 2023.  These 
included provision for safe accommodation and support, specialist support from 
the IDVA service and Perpetrator support services to assist in the prevention 

and reduction of harm for individuals and their children affected by domestic 
abuse. 

 
Cabinet approved the commencement of the procurement and agreed the 
progress of the statutory duties set out in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, 

Page 14



CC9 

 
including the Needs Assessment and Overarching Domestic Abuse Strategy 
2022. 

 

9. Oxfordshire Voluntary and Community Sector Strategy 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 
 

Cabinet approved a report on the proposed five year Voluntary and Community 
Sector (VCS) strategy to set out the Council’s commitment to support a 
sustainable sector, through co-production with the VCS, district and city counci l 

colleagues and Oxfordshire County Councillors.  A steering group will include 
ten VCS organisations and the district and city councils. 

 
Councillor Lygo also agreed that critical views from the consultation and the 
report from the People Overview & Scrutiny Committee will be taken on board 

as this will be a flexible strategy. 
 

 

Cabinet Member: Travel & Development Strategy 
 

10. Oxfordshire Strategic Rail Freight Interchange 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 

 
Oxfordshire Railfreight Ltd. has proposed a rail freight interchange close to the 
site of the former Ardley railway station.  Given the scale and significance of the 

development, officers considered that Cabinet should have the opportunity to 
approve the Council’s response to the first public consultation by the promoter.  

 
Cabinet approved the response conveying their concerns about the implications 
in this proposal for the local road network, the employment market, onward 

transport of goods and access for employees. 
 

11. Didcot Garden Town HIF1 - Compulsory Purchase and Side 
Road Orders 
(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 
 
Cabinet in July 2020 agreed the preferred options to proceed with the 

preliminary design and planning application for this Scheme. A subsequent 
report in June 2021 approved the “in principle” use of statutory powers.  Cabinet 

was now asked to approve the Compulsory Purchase and Side Road Orders 
deemed necessary as outlined in the report. 
 

Cabinet approved the recommendations, noting that there were various 
gateways at which it would be possible to review progress and funding but 

that would be on the premise that the Council was not putting any more 
money in. 
 

Scrutiny Reports 

 
12. Reports received from scrutiny committees 

(Cabinet, 19 July 2022) 
 
Cabinet received reports and accepted recommendations on the following: Page 15



CC9 

 
 

 Report of the Carbon Reduction Targets Working Group, commissioned by 

the Place Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 Report of the Place Overview & Scrutiny Committee: Scrutiny of Local 
Transport and Connectivity Plan. 

 

 Report of the People Overview & Scrutiny Committee on Voluntary Sector 
Strategy. 

 

 Report of the People Overview & Scrutiny Committee on Digital Inclusion 

Strategy. 
 

 Recommendations of the Performance & Corporate Services Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee re the 2022/23 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Action 
Plan 

 
Cabinet will send formal responses on each of the reports. 

 
 

LIZ LEFFMAN 

Leader of the Council      September 2022 

Page 16



 

Divisions affected – All  

COUNCIL  

13 September 2022 
 

Oxfordshire County Council Electoral Review 

 

Report of the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

1. To establish a cross-party group with membership drawn from each political 

group following liaison with the Political Group Leaders.  This will be supported 

by a technical officer group set up by the Director of Law and Governance. 

 

Executive Summary 

 

2. The Commission has informed the Council that it will be carrying out an 

electoral review.  The last review was undertaken from 2010 to 2012 and 

implemented for the County Council election in May 2013. In common with a 

number of other county council areas, Oxfordshire is now due to be reviewed. 

Over the period since the last review significant variations have developed 

between the number of electors in each of the Council’s divisions.    

 

Timeline 

 

3. Commission officials have held a preliminary meeting with the Leader of the 

Council, Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer to explain the review process.  

The next stage is to provide a briefing to all members and that session is 

being held on the rise of Council on 13 September 2022. A copy of the 

presentation that will be made to members is attached to this report. 

 

4. The preliminary meetings allow Commission officials to outline the review 

process and helps them gain an understanding of key agendas and priorities 

for the Council.  

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 10



5. The initial task for the Council will be to develop thoughts on proposed council 

size (the number of elected members) alongside assembling five-year 

electorate forecasts.  Commission officials will liaise with Council officers to 

ensure that the figures are as robust as possible. This stage provides the 

opportunity to consider the number of elected members and to reflect on the 

role and contribution of elected members in modern local governance.   

 

6. Commission officials are keen to gather views from the community and will 

hold a session that district, town and parish representatives can attend.  They 

also encourage the Council to publicise the review through its own channels to 

others including the public, businesses and the voluntary and community 

groups. 

 

7. The review timeline with key dates for the Council is summarised below: 

 
Phase 1 - 

Develop Council size proposal (number of councillors) – 13 September to 19 

December 2022 

Council size published by LGBCE – 14 February 2023 

 

Phase 2 - 

Consultation on division arrangements – 21 February to 1 May 2023 

Consultation on draft recommendations – 25 July to 2 October 2023 

Final recommendations published by LGBCE – 9 January 2024 

 

Phase 3 - 

Order laid before Parliament – Spring 2024 

Order made by Parliament – Summer 2024 

 

Phase 4 - 

Implementation of new electoral arrangements – County Council election May 

2025 

 

 

LGBCE process 

8. The Commission is an independent body accountable to Parliament and is not 

part of any Government department. It recognises that every council is unique 

and it does not have a policy as to whether the number of councillors should 

go up, go down, or stay the same.    

 

9. In terms of the division arrangements, the Commission has three statutory 

criteria to follow in determining effective representation:  

Page 18



 Making sure that, within a council, each councillor represents a similar 

number of electors. 

 Creating boundaries that are appropriate and reflect community 

identities and interests. 

 Securing effective and convenient local government by undertaking 

reviews informed by local needs, views and circumstances. 

 

10. The District Councils must be involved in forecasts as they hold data relating 

to the electorate in each area and as the authorities responsible for producing 

Local Plans they are able to provide future population estimates. The 

Commission can only consider population estimates for five years beyond the 

end of the review period.  For county reviews, divisions are not allowed to 

cross district boundaries or extend beyond the county boundary, however 

minor the change might be.   

 

11. In making its recommendations, the Commission cannot take account of 

political consequences or parliamentary boundaries.  In the words of the 

Commission ‘an argument that it ain’t broke so don’t fix it’ cannot be made.  

 
 

Corporate policies and priorities 

 

12. The electoral review is an essential part of good governance for the Council 

and will ensure that the electorate is represented fairly across the county.  

Financial implications 

 

13. There is no specific budget for the review so costs will be met from General 

Balances as a supplementary estimate – it is unplanned expenditure but 

necessary. The costs will be monitored by Law and Governance and reported 

through the Business Management report. 

Legal implications 

 

14. The Local Government Boundary Commission for England is established 

under Section 55 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 

Consultation Act 2009.  The Council is required by the Commission to respond 

to the electoral review and must meet the deadlines set by the Commission for 

each phase of the review.  

 

Page 19



Staff implications 

 

15. Limited staff resources are available in Law and Governance to support the 

review.  Extra capacity has been sought from the Association of Electoral 

Administrators to allow a specialist with electoral review knowledge to be 

engaged on a part-time basis to provide project management and ensure that 

critical deadlines are met. 

Equality and inclusion implications 

 

16. The electoral review will help in ensuring that the electorate in Oxfordshire, 

including minority and protected groups, are fairly represented.  

Risk management 

 

17. Without external support, the Council could struggle to engage effectively in 

the review and not be able to be able to make a well-informed response on 

council size and division boundaries.  Data provided by the Council also helps 

others including political parties in making informed responses.  The action 

taken to employ an electoral review specialist mitigates this risk and will 

ensure that the Council can meet LGBCE deadlines.  

  

 

Anita Bradley 

Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer 

 

Annex: LGBCE electoral review timetable 

 

Background papers: Please refer to the Local Government Boundary 

Commission for England website (www.lgbce.org.uk) for 

information on previous electoral reviews undertaken in 

Oxfordshire. 

 

Contact Officer: Simon Harper, Head of Governance 

 Email simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 

September 2022 

Page 20

http://www.lgbce.org.uk/
mailto:simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk


1

Oxfordshire County Council

Electoral Review

Full Council Briefing

www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 
September 2022

P
age 21



About us:

2

Impartial Objective

Professional

You can contact us with 
questions at any time 

throughout the review.

Transparent

Responsive

P
age 22



3

Number of 
councillors

Number of divisions

Boundaries 
between divisions

Names of each 
division

Number of 
councillors elected 

to each division

An electoral review 
considers the 

electoral 
arrangements for a 

local authority

What is an electoral 

review?

P
age 23



www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

Poor electoral equality
(intervention review)

Time
(periodic review)

Request from a local
authority

As a result of 
structural change

We review authorities 

for one of four reasons

P
age 24



Process:

5

Phase 4:
Implementation

Phase 3: 
Parliament

Phase 2: 
division
arrangements

Phase 1:
Councillor
numbers

P
age 25



Phase 1: councillor 

numbers

www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

Submissions should be provided by 
5 January 2023

During this phase, we 
ask for you to make 

your case for a 
particular number of 

councillors

We are happy to receive 
submissions from whole 

council or from individual 
groups or councillors.

Every council is unique.  The 
Commission does not have a 

policy as to whether the 
number of councillors should 
go up, go down, or stay the 

same.

Councillor 
numbers

P
age 26



Phase 1: councillor 

numbers (cont.)

www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

Decision Making

Representational 
Requirements

Scrutiny & 
Partnerships

Effective 
representations:

Councillor 
numbers

P
age 27



www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

Phase 2: division 

arrangements 

arrangements

Division 
arrangements

First consultation on 
division arrangements 

arrangements:
21 February 2023 
– 1 May 2023

Consultation on draft 
proposals:

25 July 2023 –
2 October 2023

The local 
community has at 

least two 
opportunities to 

tell us their views 
about how 

divisions should 
be arranged.

Sometimes we will hold an additional round of 
consultation if we want to test some proposals 
that are very different from our draft proposals

Publication of final 
proposals: 

9 January 2024
(later if further 

consultation needed)

P
age 28



www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

Phase 2: division 

arrangements 

arrangements (cont.)

Division 
arrangements

Electoral equality

Effective and 
convenient local 

government

Community 
identities and 

interests

Effective 
representations will 
address our three 
statutory criteria:

P
age 29



www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

What do we mean by 

electoral equality?

Ideally, every councillor should represent the same 
number of electors…However, over time a number of things may happen…Houses may get built…… leading to more electors in some areas but not all…

There may be a university, with new accommodation or 
increased rates of registration in some divisions, leading 

to more electors there…

Some people may leave the area, reducing electors in 
some divisions…

Some people may also move from one part of the area 
to another, shifting the balance of electors…

You can see how an area may become imbalanced over 
time.

We will try to ensure this imbalance does not occur 
when we draw up the new boundaries.

ElectorsCouncillor

To do this we will use electorate 
forecasts supplied by the council to 
propose divisions that ensure each 

councillor represents a similar number 
of electors in the future.

P
age 30



www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

What do we mean by 

electoral equality?

P
age 31



Community identity 
and interests

We want to reflect local 
communities in the 

divisions we propose.

We need local people to 
tell us about the shape of 

local communities.

Sometimes what looks 
like a dividing line on a 

map is actually a uniting 
feature to a community.

For example, on this map 
there looks to be a clear 

dividing line between 
communities along the 

black boundary.

However, people wrote 
to tell us that these areas 
were not dividing lines. 

These were nature 
reserves that united the 
communities either side.

As a result, we 
changed our 

proposals to reflect 
this local community 

evidence.

As a result, we 
changed our 

proposals to reflect 
this local community 

evidence.

P
age 32



Convenient and effective local 
government

We look for strong and identifiable 
boundaries that should make it easy for 

councillors to represent their areas.

P
age 33



www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

Number of councillors 

per division

As the council elects all out, we have no 
presumption towards a particular pattern of 

divisions.
Any pattern of divisions can be suggested.

P
age 34



15

What we can’t 

consider
Political consequences

“It ain’t broke, don’t fix 
it” arguments

Parliamentary 
boundaries

Postcodes or addresses

House prices or 
insurance

The external 
boundaries for the 

county

P
age 35



www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

Phase 3: Parliament

Parliament

Order goes through 
draft negative 

resolution 
procedure (40 days)

Parliament can only 
reject or agree. It 

cannot amend 
Orders.

Once we have 
published final 

recommendations, 
we will lay an Order 
in both Houses of 

Parliament

If agreed, the Order 
is made

P
age 36



www.lgbce.org.uk | consultation.lgbce.org.uk | @lgbce | reviews@lgbce.org.uk 

Phase 4: Implementation

Implementation

The new electoral 
arrangements are 

implemented at the 
next election.

P
age 37



18

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

Phase 4

Preliminary period:
Now – January 2023

LGBCE makes council size decision
February 2023

Consultation on division 
arrangements pattern

21 February 2023 – 1 May 2023

Publication of draft proposals
25 July 2023

Consultation on draft proposals
25 July 2023 – 2 October 2023

Publication of final 
recommendations
9 January 2024

Parliamentary approval 
of recommendations

Early 2024

Implementation of new 
electoral arrangements
May 2025

REVIEW TIMELINE

P
age 38



How we consult

19

Write to all key 
stakeholders in 
the local area

Social media Local media
Community 

briefings

Ask for your helpFlyers and posters Work with your 
officers

P
age 39



How to make a 

submission or 

get in contact 

during the 

review

20

P
age 40



21

Questions?P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Divisions Affected - All 
 
 

COUNCIL 

13 September 2022 
 

AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION AND ITS 
PRESENTATION (INCLUDING RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE 

CONSTITUTION REVIEW WORKING GROUP)  
 

Report by Director of Law and Governance 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

1. Council is RECOMMENDED to approve: 
 
(a) The changes to the presentation of the Constitution on the Council’s 

website referred to in paragraphs 4 to 8 of the report 
(b) The video and diagram referred to in paragraphs 9 to 11 of the report for 

inclusion on the Council’s website  
(c) The proposals for the incorporation of all of the current Articles into the 

main body of the Constitution referred to in paragraphs 12 to 14 of the 
report 

(d) The proposals for amendment to the Protocol on Members’ Rights and 
Responsibilities, the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations, the Council 
Procedure Rules and the Contract Procedure Rules in the Constitution 
referred to in paragraphs 15 to 23 of the report 

(e) The proposed new Part 2 of the Constitution relating to the Fire and 
Rescue Service referred to in paragraphs 26 to 28 of the report; and  

(f) A delegation  to the Director of Law and Governance to make textual 
amendments to the Constitution to address any inconsistencies or 
correct any cross-referencing errors arising from or as a consequence of 
the amendments, along with updating job and group titles if those 
referred to in the Constitution are obsolete (insofar as the Director of Law 
and Governance does not already have such a delegation) 
 

Council is also recommended:  
(g) To note that the Code of Conduct it adopted on 5 April 2022 and the 

Current Scheme of Allowances referred to in paragraphs 24 to 25 below 
will be incorporated into the Constitution. 

Executive Summary 
 

2. The Cross Party Constitution Working Group (“the CWG”) held nine meetings 
between November 2021 and July 2022 and its members were Cllr Susanna 

Page 43

Agenda Item 11



Pressel (Chair from November 2021 to May 2022) and Cllr Brad Baines (Chair 
from June to July 2022), Cllr Roz Smith (Deputy Chair) and Cllrs Mark Lygo, 
David Bartholomew, Robin Bennett, Yvonne Constance, Ted Fenton, Stefan 
Gawrysiak and Bethia Thomas (with substitutions when members were unable 
to attend meetings). It was tasked with considering ways of amending the 
Constitution and then making recommendations. The recommendations 
contained in this report arise from its work and were approved by the Audit and 
Governance Committee at its meeting on 20 July 2022.  

3. The Annexes to this report are voluminous (reflecting the complexity of the 
textual amendment work carried out) and, at the Audit and Governance 
Committee meeting, Cllr Middleton indicated that assistance with reviewing the 
Annexes would have been helpful to him. The Contact Officer, Richard Hodby, 
whose details are below, is willing to review the Annexes personally with 
members in advance of the meeting if they contact him.  

 
Background 
 

Website  
4. Currently, the Constitution is not contained within the Council’s website. Rather, 

the website provides links that enable users to download either a complete pdf 
copy of the Constitution or pdf copies of individual sections of it.  

5. The pdfs are not consistent in presentation with the rest of the Council’s website 
(not using the same fonts or colours) and they are slow to load, difficult to view 
on mobile devices, and difficult for the software used by those with visual 
impairment to manipulate. 

6. Fully integrating the relevant documents into the Council’s website would 
improve presentation, speed up access, and also have environmental benefits, 
as computers use energy in loading up pdfs.  It would also ensure that the 
Council was more likely to be compliant with its obligations to make web content 
accessible (particularly to those with visual impairment) under the Public Sector 
Bodies (Websites and Mobile Applications) (No 2) Accessibility Regulations 
2018. 

7. The CWG reviewed the presentation of constitutions on a number of different 
local authority websites and was impressed with the integrated presentation of 
the constitution on the Cumbria County Council website. The Council’s IT 
engineers have tried to replicate this in the Council’s house style and their initial 
“mock up” can be viewed by following this link (note that it is necessary to accept 
the “warnings” to view it): 
https://www.cmsbox.theocn.org/council/about-your-council/government-
oxfordshire/oxfordshire-county-council/corporate-governance/council-
constitution-0 

8. The CWG proposes that the Council’s IT engineers should be instructed to 
complete their work and make it “live” on the Council’s website, whilst also 
retaining the option of downloading the entire Constitution as a single pdf 
document, as some users will find that helpful. 

9. The CWG believes that a video and a diagram could be useful “hooks” on the 
website to generate public interest in the Constitution.  

10. The CWG approved the text at Annex 1, which provides an introduction to the 
Constitution in simple terms and could be read over a video prepared by the 

Page 44



Council’s videographer. The CWG also approved the diagram at Annex 2, which 
sets out information from the Constitution about decision-making in visual form. 

11. The CWG proposes that the video (when ready) and diagram should be 
incorporated into the Constitution section of the Council’s website. 

  
Incorporation of Articles into the Main Body of the Constitution 

12. The CWG believes that the separation of the Constitution into Articles and a 
main body of text (like a company’s memorandum and articles) is confusing and 
leads to unnecessary repetition. The CWG noted that modern constitutions (eg 
as used by Birmingham City Council and Milton Keynes Council) do not contain 
Articles. 

13. The CWG approved the incorporation of the Articles into the main body of the 
Constitution in the way outlined in Annex 3. The Annex begins with a schedule 
summarising the changes made and is followed by text incorporating the 
changes. 

14. Text from the Articles was reviewed before being incorporated into the main 
body of the Constitution and text that was redundant or repetitious was 
removed. Also, text that was inconsistent with a modern style was revised (eg 
where the word “Chairman” was used, it was replaced with “Chair”, as approved 
by Council on 14 September 2021).  

 
Part 9.2 (Protocol on Members’ Rights and Responsibilities) and Part 9.6 
(Protocol on Member/Officer relations) 

15. A report was presented to the CWG on the problems with the Constitution 
identified in discussions with the Council’s political groups. It was suggested the 
Constitution was unwieldy, repetitious and old-fashioned. 

16. The CWG approved amendments to Parts 9.2 and 9.6 to address these 
concerns. 

17. Annex 4 begins with a schedule showing the amendments made to both parts, 
followed by a “clean” version of Part 9.2 (with all amendments incorporated), a 
version of Part 9.2 showing the changes tracked in, a “clean” version of Part 9.6 
and finally a version of Part 9.6 with all the changes tracked in.   

18. The schedule shows how amendments were made to remove redundant text, 
duplications and unnecessary cross-referencing; update style (eg removing 
“his/her” references); and add clarification (for example, about the right of 
recourse to the Monitoring Officer and the use of Social Media). 

 
Part 3.1 (Council Procedure Rules) 

19. The CWG proposed that clause 13.5 of the Council Procedure Rules should be 
amended to require that amendments to Motions on Notice should be submitted 
by 9am at least two working days before the relevant Council meeting (the 
current Rules allow them to be submitted one working day before). 

20. The purpose of the change is to ensure that officers have sufficient time to deal 
with the practical and administrative issues raised by such amendments and 
provide papers to Councillors in a timely fashion ahead of the Council meeting.  

21. A tracked change version of Part 3.1 incorporating the amendment is found at 
Annex 5. 

  

Page 45



 
Part 8.3 (Contract Procedure Rules) 

22. The CWG agreed, following recommendations from officers, that the Contract 
Procedure Rules in respect of supply of goods and services should be updated. 
This is to reflect changes in legislation (particularly post-Brexit), changes in 
internal procedures (such as changes in authorisation thresholds) and changes 
in officer job titles. 

23. Annex 6 begins with a schedule showing the amendments made to Part 8.3, 
followed by a “clean” version (with all amendments incorporated) and ends with 
a version showing the changes tracked in.  
 
Parts 9.1 (Members’ Code of Conduct) and Part 10.1 (Members’ Allowances 
Scheme) 

24. At the Full Council meeting on 2 November 2021 a new allowances scheme 
was approved (to take effect from 1 April 2022) and at the Full Council meeting 
on 5 April 2022 a new Members’ Code of Conduct was approved (to take effect 
from 1 May 2022). 

25. These will replace the existing Parts 9.1 and 10.1 in the Constitution. 
 

Part 2 (Fire and Rescue Service) 
26. Incorporating the Articles into the main body of the Constitution means that all 

content has been removed from Part 2 of the Constitution. Consequently, either 
the Parts need renumbering or new content needs to be included in Part 2. 

27. It is proposed that information about the Fire and Rescue Service should be 
included in Part 2, as the Constitution currently has limited information about 
the Service. The proposed new Part 2 contained in Annex 7 defines the 
responsibilities of the Fire and Rescue Service, the Chief Fire Officer and the 
Cabinet Members associated with the Service and explains how the Service is 
held to account. 

28. The current Chief Fire Officer is responsible for the Channel Panel and the 
opportunity has also been taken to include reference to it in the Constitution.  

Financial Implications 
 

29. The recommendations in this report have no direct financial implications for the 
Council.  

 
Comments checked by: 
 
Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance lorna.baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

Legal Implications 
 

30. The recommendations in this report are consistent with the Council’s duty under 
Section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000 to have a Constitution and keep 
it up to date.  

 
Comments checked by: 

Page 46



 
Richard Hodby, Solicitor richard.hodby@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

Staff Implications 
 

31. There are no direct staff implications arising from this report. 
 

Equality & Inclusion Implications 
 

32. Attempts have been made to use inclusive language in the proposed 
amendments and the new web presentation for the Constitution should make 
information more easily available to those with visual impairment.  
 

Sustainability Implications 
 

33. Loading up pdfs is energy inefficient and so fully integrating the Constitution 
onto the Council’s website (rather than relying on PDF links) should save 
energy.  

 

Risk Management 
 

34. There are no direct risk management implications arising from this report.  
 
ANITA BRADLEY 
Director of Law and Governance 
 
Annexes: (1) Video narrative 
 (2) Diagram 
 (3) Incorporation of Articles into the body of the Constitution 

(4) Amendments to Part 9.2 (Protocol on Members’ Rights 
and Responsibilities) and Part 9.6 (Protocol on 
Member/Officer relations) 

 (5) Amendments to Part 3.1 (Council Procedure Rules) 
 (6) Amendments to Part 8.3 (Contract Procedure Rules) 
 (7) Proposed new Part 2 (Fire and Rescue Service) 
 
Background papers: Minutes of the nine meetings of the CWG and supporting 

presentations along with the minutes of the Audit and 
Governance Committee meeting on 20 July 2022 

 
 
Contact Officer: Richard Hodby, Solicitor, Legal Services 07825 755552  

richard.hodby@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 
1 SEPTEMBER 2022 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 1 – VIDEO NARRATIVE 

1
Page 49



Proposed video narrative: 
 
The Constitution acts as a rule book that governs every aspect of Oxfordshire County 
Council’s powers, its services and the work of its officers.  
 
It sets the structure for how meetings operate and makes sure decisions in those 
meetings are legal, fair and transparent. It defines the responsibilities of officers, sets 
out procedures for decision making on matters delegated to officers and contains 
protocols relating to expected standards of conduct. 
 
The Constitution enables Councillors, officers, citizens and stakeholders to 
understand how the Council makes decisions and who is responsible for them. It 
ensures that what we do is efficient, transparent and accountable to you.  
 
The law requires all Councils to have a written constitution and the Oxfordshire County 
Council constitution is kept regularly updated. 
 
The Constitution is available on the Oxfordshire County Council website, but if you are 
having difficulty in accessing it and require it in a different format, then please e-mail 
the Democratic Services Team through the link on the Contact page on the website or 
write to the Team at County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND. Messages can also 
be passed to the Team through the Oxfordshire County Council switchboard on 01865 
792422. 
 
 

2
Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



1
Page 53



2
Page 54



3

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxxx

Page 55



4
Page 56



5
Page 57



6
Page 58



7
Page 59



8
Page 60



9
Page 61



10
Page 62



11
Page 63



12
Page 64



13
Page 65



14
Page 66



15
Page 67



16
Page 68



17
Page 69



18
Page 70



19
Page 71



20
Page 72



21
Page 73



22
Page 74



23
Page 75



24
Page 76



25
Page 77



26

Future Oxfordshire Partnership

Page 78



27
Page 79



28
Page 80



29
Page 81



30
Page 82



31
Page 83



32
Page 84



33
Page 85



34
Page 86



35
Page 87



36
Page 88



37
Page 89



38
Page 90



39
Page 91



40
Page 92



41
Page 93



42
Page 94



43
Page 95



44
Page 96



45
Page 97



46
Page 98



47
Page 99



48
Page 100



49
Page 101



50
Page 102



51
Page 103



52
Page 104



53
Page 105



54
Page 106



55
Page 107



56
Page 108



57
Page 109



58
Page 110



59
Page 111



60
Page 112



61

Future Oxfordshire Partnership

Page 113



62
Page 114



63
Page 115



64
Page 116



65
Page 117



66
Page 118



67
Page 119



68
Page 120



69
Page 121



70
Page 122



71
Page 123



72
Page 124



73
Page 125



74
Page 126



75
Page 127



76
Page 128



77
Page 129



78
Page 130



79
Page 131



80
Page 132



81
Page 133



82
Page 134



83
Page 135



84
Page 136



85
Page 137



86
Page 138



87
Page 139



88
Page 140



89
Page 141



90
Page 142



91
Page 143



92
Page 144



93
Page 145



94
Page 146



95
Page 147



96
Page 148



97
Page 149



98
Page 150



99
Page 151



100
Page 152



1
Page 153



2
Page 154



3
Page 155



4
Page 156



5
Page 157



6
Page 158



7
Page 159



8
Page 160



9
Page 161



10
Page 162



11
Page 163



12
Page 164



13
Page 165



14
Page 166



15
Page 167



16
Page 168



17
Page 169



18
Page 170



19
Page 171



20
Page 172



21
Page 173



22
Page 174



23
Page 175



24
Page 176



25
Page 177



26
Page 178



27
Page 179



28
Page 180



29
Page 181



30
Page 182



31
Page 183



32
Page 184



33
Page 185



34
Page 186



35
Page 187



36
Page 188



37
Page 189



38
Page 190



39
Page 191



40
Page 192



41
Page 193



42
Page 194



43
Page 195



44
Page 196



1

1
Page 197



2

2
Page 198



3

3
Page 199



4

4
Page 200



5

5
Page 201



6

6
Page 202



7

7
Page 203



8

8
Page 204



9

9
Page 205



10

10
Page 206



11

11
Page 207



12

12
Page 208



13

13
Page 209



14

14
Page 210



15

15
Page 211



16

16
Page 212



17

17
Page 213



18

18
Page 214



19

19
Page 215



20

20
Page 216



21

21
Page 217



22

22
Page 218



23

23
Page 219



24

24
Page 220



25

25
Page 221



26

26
Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 7 – OXFORDSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE 
AUTHORITY 

Page 311



Part 2  
 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Authority  
 
1. The Council is the designated Fire and Rescue Authority for the County of 

Oxfordshire with the primary responsibility to protect the community, reduce 
harm and save lives through prevention, protection and response.  

 
2. The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 sets out those core functions which all 

Fire Authorities must make provision for, including:  
 

• Promoting fire safety  
• Extinguishing fires and protecting life and property when fires do occur 

including: 
o the provision of resources necessary to meet normal requirements  
o appropriate training for firefighters  
o ensuring 999 calls for assistance can be dealt with effectively  
o minimising damage to property arising from firefighting operations   

• Rescuing people involved in road traffic collisions  
• Rescuing and protecting people in the event of other emergencies  

 
3.  The 2004 Act also introduced the Fire and Rescue National Framework which 

Fire and Rescue Authorities must have regard to when carrying out their 
functions. The five national priorities set out in the Framework require Fire and 
Rescue Authorities to: 

 
•  Make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities 
•  Identify and assess the foreseeable range of fire and rescue related risks which 

their areas face 
•  Collaborate with emergency services and other local and national partners to 

increase efficiency and effectiveness 
•  Be accountable to communities for their service 
•  Develop and maintain a workforce which is professional, resilient, skilled 

flexible and diverse 
 

4. The Chief Fire Officer is authorised: 
(a) to ensure that the Council meets its legal and operational responsibilities for 
an effective fire and rescue service to be provided across the County  
(b) to secure provision of resources, training, and equipment for the purposes 
of discharging the core functions of the Fire and Rescue Service; and 
(c) to undertake fire safety promotion, road traffic collision rescues and other 
emergency responses to civil emergencies 

 
5. The Cabinet Member for Community Services and Safety is the lead Councillor 

with specific responsibility for Fire and Rescue within the remit of their Cabinet 
portfolio. 

 
The Cabinet Member’s responsibilities include:  

• To provide assurance on the performance of Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service  

Page 312



•  To receive reports from the Chief Fire Officer on the development and delivery 
of strategy, budgets, and policy  

•  To develop expertise and knowledge in their portfolio area  
•  To be the Council’s lead spokesperson for their portfolio  
•  To attend the Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee as requested, to discuss 

decisions taken and to assist the scrutiny and policy development process  
•  To respond to questions relating to their portfolio arising at Council, Cabinet 

and Committee meetings  
 
6.  The Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee has responsibility for scrutinising 

the Fire and Rescue function and acting as a critical friend. The Chief Fire 
Officer reports into the Committee providing key performance information to 
ensure members can hold the Portfolio holder to account and ensuring all 
statutory responsibilities placed on the service are discharged and targets and 
objectives for performance are met.  

 
7. Channel Panel 

In compliance with the statutory requirements set out under Section 36-41 of 
the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015, the Council has a Channel Panel 
in place for the County of Oxfordshire and follows the Channel Duty Guidance 
2020. The Chief Fire Officer currently has responsibility for the Channel Panel. 

 

Page 313



This page is intentionally left blank



Division(s): N/A 

 
 

COUNTY COUNCIL – 13 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 

CHANGES TO CONSTITUTION OF PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
 

Report by the Director of Law & Governance 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. Council is RECOMMENDED to endorse recommendations a) to d) agreed 

by the Pension Fund Committee, and endorsed by the Audit & 

Governance Committee, as set out below. 

 
a) That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
b) That approval be given to amend the Governance Policy to 

mandate all Members of the Committee to complete training in line 
with the Training Policy as set out in paragraph 18 of the report. 

 
c) That approval be given to only named substitutes of the 

Committee being allowed where they have completed training in 

line with the Training Policy. 
 

d) That Council mandate the Director of Law & Governance to make 
the appropriate changes to the Terms of Reference and 
Constitution of the Pension Fund Committee to formalise the new 

governance arrangements and 
 

 Council is also RECOMMENDED to endorse the following agreed by the 
Audit and Governance Committee: 

 

e) That when the Independent Remuneration Panel is next due to 
formally meet, a full review be undertaken of Members’ 

responsibilities and commitments relating to their roles and the 
appropriateness of whether an additional allowance should be 
provided be considered in relation to specific roles. 

 

Introduction 
 
2. The Audit & Governance Committee previously received a proposal from the 

Pension Fund Committee to amend their Constitution in respect of the training 

requirements of all Members at their meeting in November 2019.  The 
Committee agreed to recommend the proposals presented at the time to Full 

Council for adoption.  However due to delays associated with the pandemic and 
then administrative oversight, the proposed changes were never presented to 
Council. 

 

Page 315

Agenda Item 12



3. At their meeting on 10 June 2022, the Pension Fund Committee re-considered 
the issue on the basis of the report attached as an Annex to this report.  The 

main drivers for both the initial review and the latest proposal were: 
 

 The current Governance Policy is not compliant with best practice.  
Under the Governance Compliance Standards, all members of the 
Pension Fund Committee should be fully aware of the status, role and 

functions that they are required to perform.  In the absence of mandatory 
training and given the ability of substitute members to attend the 

Committee, the Committee has determined that they do not currently 
fully comply with this standard. 

 

 There have been two recent national reports which have focussed on 
the skills and knowledge of Pension Fund Committee Members.  The 

report from Hymans Robertson on behalf of the Scheme Advisory Board 
recommends that the Department for Levelling Up, Housing, and 

Communities issues statutory guidance to require all Pension Fund 
Committee Members to meet the skills and knowledge requirements 
placed on Pension Fund Trustees under the Pensions Act 2004.  The 

second report from the Pension Regulator highlighted their increasing 
focus on the skills and knowledge of Pension Fund Committee Members  

 

 The current inconsistency in that Local Pension Board Members who are 
asked to support and scrutinise the work of the Pension Fund Committee 

are legally required to meet the skills and knowledge requirements of the 
2004 Act, whilst the Committee Members they support and scrutinise are 

not. 
 

 The lack of appropriate skills and knowledge on the Committee remains 

a key risk on the Pension Fund’s risk register. 
 

Pension Fund Committee Discussion and Decisions 
 

4. The main change since the Pension Fund Committee last discussed the issue 
was the changes to the constitution of the Pension Fund Committee agreed by 
the Council in March 2021 which reduced the number of voting members from 

11 to 5.  In light of this change, the Pension Fund Committee re-considered the 
previous proposal not to allow any substitute members to sit on the Pension 

Fund Committee.  To mitigate the risk that future meetings of the Pension Fund 
Committee would become inquorate, the Pension Fund Committee agreed to 
amend the previous proposals to allow substitute members to sit on the Pension 

Fund Committee, as long as they met the requirements set out in the Training 
Policy. 

 
5. The Pension Fund Committee agreed that no changes were required to the 

mandatory training requirements set out in the previous Training Policy as last 

presented to this Committee.  Since that previous report, the Pension Fund 
Committee had agreed further changes to the Policy to ensure all members of 

both the Pension Fund Committee and the Local Pension Board should 
undertake an annual assessment of their current skills and knowledge, and that 

Page 316



all members should maintain an assessment score consistent with their 
statutory and fiduciary responsibilities in respect of their service on either the 

Pension Fund Committee or Local Pension Board.   
 

6. In summary therefore, the Training Policy requires all members of the Pension 
Fund Committee and Local Pension Board to: 
 

a. attend: 
 

 In their 1st year – an induction section on the Oxfordshire 
Pension Funds Policies, and either 

 The 3-day LGA Fundamentals Course or 

 The 5 Core and 4 DB on-line modules of the Pension 
Regulators Trustee Toolkit 

 In each subsequent year – all pre-Committee training, and a 
minimum of 2 days additional training. 

 
b. complete the annual Knowledge Assessment exercise run by Hymans 

Robertson; and  

 
c. maintain a score on the Knowledge and Assessment exercise 

consistent with their responsibilities as a serving member of the 
Pension Fund Committee or Pension Board as appropriate. 

 

7. During the course of the discussion at the Pension Fund Committee in June, 
Members noted that whilst these training requirements were consistent with 

their duties in managing a Pension Fund of £3.2bn and over 68,000 scheme 
members, they were in excess of the requirements on members of the majority 
of committees of the Council.  They felt that this should be acknowledged, 

particularly when looking to encourage those members required to maintain the 
standard of training in case of acting as a substitute member at future meetings.  

They therefore added an additional recommendation, (e) in their report, to ask 
the Audit & Governance Committee to consider the payment of an additional 
allowance to members of the Pension Fund Committee, the Local Pension 

Board and those who maintained the appropriate level of skills and knowledge 
as set out in the Training Policy to enable then to act as substitute members on 

the Pension Fund Committee. 
 

8. The Audit & Governance Committee decided to recommend that the question 

of an additional allowance be referred to the Independent Remunerations Panel 
for consideration by them when they next formally meet. 

 

 
ANITA BRADLEY 

Director of Law & Governance 
 
Contact Officer: Colm Ó Caomhánaigh, Committee Officer, 07393 001096   

 
September 2022 

 

Page 317



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 

Division(s):n/a 

 

ITEM 
 

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE – 10 JUNE 2022 
 

CONSTITUTION OF THE PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
 

Report by the Director of Finance 

 
 RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the content of the report and: 

a. Agree to amend their Governance Policy to mandate all Members of 

the Committee to complete training in line with the Training Policy 
as set out in paragraph 18 below;  

b. Agree that only named substitutes allowed where they have 
completed training in line with the Training Policy; and 

c. Recommend Council via the Audit and Governance Committee to 

make the appropriate changes to the Terms of Reference and 
Constitution to formalise the new governance arrangements. 

 
Introduction 

 

2. At their meeting in September 2019, the Committee agreed to recommend 
Council, through the Audit and Governance Committee to make changes to their 
constitution.  These changes included mandatory training, and the decision not 

to allow substitute members at the Committee. 
 

3. These recommendations were subsequently discussed and endorsed by the 
Audit and Governance Committee at their meeting in November 2019.  
Unfortunately, due to an administrative oversight, the recommendation from the 

Audit and Governance Committee was never presented to full Council and the 
amendments to the constitution therefore were never agreed. 

 
4. The key reasons for bringing forward the proposal in 2019 still stand today, and 

indeed have in anything been strengthened with the Department for Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities now also raising questions about the level of 
skills and knowledge on Pension Fund Committees. 

 
5. Since the decision in 2019, a major change has been the reduction in the 

number of voting members of the Committee from 11 to 5.  This has raised the 

risk of meetings not been quorate in the event that substitutes are not allowed.  
It is therefore proposed to change the original proposal to allow for named 

substitutes, subject to them maintaining their level of skills and knowledge 
consistent with the Training Policy. 
 

  
 

Page 319



Background 

 
6. There is a legal requirement on Pension Trustees under the Pensions Act 2004 

to have been trained and have knowledge of the law relating to pensions and 
the principles of scheme funding, investments and administration.  However, 

members of the Pension Fund Committee do not fall under the definition of 
Trustees and therefore are not covered by these legal requirements.  The 
requirements do though apply to members of the Local Pension Board.  

 
7. There is though an expectation that Members of the Pension Fund Committee 

will seek to obtain the same level of knowledge and understanding as that 
required under the 2004 Act.  The Governance Compliance Standards against 
which each Committee must assess itself includes as Principle C that all 

Members of the Committee are fully aware of the status, role and function they 
are required to perform.  Currently, the Oxfordshire Pension Fund Committee 

have assessed themselves as partially compliant with this principle because the 
principle does not apply to any substitute member.  

 

8. Two national reports were published during 2019 which have relevance to this 
issue.  Hymans Robertson have produced their Good Governance in the LGPS 

report as commissioned by the Scheme Advisory Board SAB).  This report 
includes the proposal that the Government in conjunction with SAB should issue 
statutory guidance bringing the training requirements of Pension Fund 

Committees in line with that required for Local Pension Boards.  This proposal 
is still with Ministers for their consideration. 
 

9. The Hymans Robertson report also identified areas of best practice.  This 
included Funds developing a Training Policy which set out how the training 

needs to the Committee would be assessed on an annual basis, and how these 
needs would be met. 
 

10. The second relevant report was the annul report from the Pension Regulator 
following their Governance Survey of the LGPS.   This report highlighted the 

Regulators concern that not all Funds carry out an annual assessment of the 
training needs of their Committee. 

 
Proposed Way Forward 

 

11. There is a risk that simply maintaining the status quo could result in challenge 
from the Pension Regulator and others going forward.  Mandating compliance 
with the current Training Policy would help ensure that the level of knowledge 

and understanding of Committee Members is as a minimum in line with that of 
the members of the Pension Board. 

 
12. The training policy covers the minimum standard to which all Committee 

Members would need to reach within an agreed timescale, and then an 

approach to future training requirements above this minimum standard.   
 

13. The Training Policy includes two potential approaches to be taken to the 
minimum standard.  The first is to attend the 3 day LGA Fundamentals Training 

Page 320



Course.  This course is run annually, and currently has both face to face and 
virtual options.  As this is a once a year course, it is suggested that all new 
members would be required to attend this course (or be enrolled to attend the 

next available course) within 12 months of joining the Committee. 
 

14. The alternative option is available through the Pension Regulators website, 
which offers a number of Training Toolkits.  The basic Trustee Toolkit consists 
of 5 core modules which are expected to be completed in around 75 minutes 

each (except for the Investment module for which it is suggested that completion 
is normally achieved in 135 minutes), and 4 modules specific to managing a 

defined benefit scheme.  These latter 4 modules are suggested to take between 
90 and 120 minutes to complete.  Each module includes an assessment tool 
and a certificate to confirm completion.  There is a separate set of 7 modules 

specific to public sector schemes which take around 1 hour each to complete, 
but these are focussed on the administration element of the responsibilities only 

and not the investment and funding side.  As the toolkits are on-line and can be 
completed at a time suitable for the individual member, these could be 
completed earlier than 1 year from joining the Committee. 

 
15. Whichever minimum standard option is taken, there would also be an 

expectation of an internal induction event which all new members would be 
invited to attend which would cover the policy documents specific to the 
Oxfordshire Pension Fund.  It is suggested that this could be a half-day event. 

 
16. In respect of continuing training, it is suggested that rather than a mandatory 

course for which all Members must attend, the Policy covers a minimum level 

of specialist or refresher training that each Member should attend.  This could 
be set at 2 days, alongside internal training provided before the quarterly 

Committee meetings.  As at present, staff within the Pensions Investment Team 
would circulate suitable courses, including the PLSA Local Authority 
Conference and Seminar, and the Local Authority sessions run by the LGC.  

Members would also be free to select specific courses based on a specialist 
interest.  We have also made available the On-line Learning Academy 

developed by Hymans Robertson which includes a range of pension subjects. 
 

17. At their meeting in September 2021, the Committee to amend the Training 

Policy to include an annual assessment for all members of both the Pension 
Committee and Pension Board, based on the National Knowledge Assessment 

tool run by Hymans Robertson.  As part of this report, the Committee also 
agreed that any failure to comply with the Training Policy including the annual 
assessment should result initially in a referral to the Chair of the relevant body 

and the Service Manager (Pensions).  This initial review would consider 
amongst other issues the length of service of the member and the amount of 

training previously undertaken.  The Committee agreed there should be the 
option to remove a member from the Committee or Board, as appropriate, where 
they were unable to demonstrate that they retained the capacity to undertake 

the necessary training or demonstrated a serious failure to acquire the skills and 
knowledge required to meet their responsibilities as a Committee/Board 

member.  
 

Page 321



18. In summary all Committee Members would be required to 
 

a. attend: 

 
 In their 1st year – an induction section on the Oxfordshire 

Pension Funds Policies, and either 

 The 3-day LGA Fundamentals Course or 

 The 5 Core and 4 DB on-line modules of the Pension 

Regulators Trustee Toolkit 
 In each subsequent year – all pre-Committee training, and a 

minimum of 2 days additional training. 
 
b. complete the annual Knowledge Assessment exercise run by Hymans 

Robertson; and  
 

c. maintain a score on the Knowledge and Assessment exercise 
consistent with their responsibilities as a serving member of the 
Pension Fund Committee or Pension Board as appropriate. 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Lorna Baxter  

Director of Finance 
 

Contact Officer:  Sean Collins      

Tel: 07554 103465                   May 2022 

Page 322


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	9 Report of the Cabinet
	10 Local Government Boundary Review for Oxfordshire
	CC_SEP1322R10 LGBCE - Annex 1

	11 Amendments to the Council's Constitution and its Presentation (including recommendations from the Constitution Working Group)
	CC_SEP1322R11 Constitutional Review - Annex 1
	CC_SEP1322R11 Constitutional Review - Annex 2
	CC_SEP1322R11 Constitutional Review - Annex 3 - first half
	CC_SEP1322R11 Constitutional Review - Annex 3 - second half
	CC_SEP1322R11 Constitutional Review - Annex 4
	CC_SEP1322R11 Constitutional Review - Annex 5
	CC_SEP1322R11 Constitutional Review - Annex 6
	CC_SEP1322R11 Constitutional Review - Annex 7

	12 Proposed changes to the Constitution of the Pension Fund Committee
	CC_SEP1322R12 Pension Committee Constitution - Annex




